SUPREME COURT FILED

No. S205568

FEB - 4 2013

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA ...

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

MARK T. FAHLEN, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

SUTTER CENTRAL VALLEY HOSPITALS, STEVE MITCHELL, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District Case No. F063023

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HANSON BRIDGETT LLP
*Joseph M. Quinn, SBN 171898
Glenda M. Zarbock, SBN 178890
Lori C. Ferguson, SBN 230586
425 Market Street, 26th Floor
San Francisco, California 94105
Email: jquinn@hansonbridgett.com
Telephone: (415) 777-3200
Facsimile: (415) 541-9366

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

To ensure the vitality of the common law, courts strive to harmonize statutes with pre-existing common law rules. A statute will be found to abrogate a rule only if the Legislature discloses a clear and unequivocal intent to accomplish that end. In this case the lower court concluded that, by Health and Safety Code section 1278.5 (Section 1278.5), the Legislature abolished the decades-old exhaustion requirement applicable to physician peer review. But this conclusion cannot stand because the Legislature disclosed no clear intent to abrogate the exhaustion requirement, and the statute can be comfortably harmonized with the common-law requirement.

Established in the common law is the principle that a physician who seeks civil remedies on the basis that a quasijudicial peer review action was maliciously motivated must first exhaust judicial remedies by securing a writ of administrative mandamus. (See Westlake Community Hosp. v. Superior Court (1976) 17 Cal.3d 465, 484 (Westlake).) The rule promotes several objectives, including respect for professional and expert quasijudicial proceedings and findings, a preference for judicial, rather than jury, review of proceedings and findings, and promotion of the difficult process of peer review, which is essential to ensuring quality care. (Ibid.) Peer review and the exhaustion requirement are now elemental to health care law in California.

¹ The full text of Section 1278.5 is set out in attachment "A."

In 2007, the Legislature extended a health care whistleblower statute, Section 1278.5, to physicians. Following the amendment, a physician against whom adverse action is taken because he reported unsafe conditions at a health facility may bring an action for civil remedies. (See § 1278.5, subd. (g).) Below, the Court of Appeal concluded that, as to claims under Section 1278.5, the Legislature abrogated the exhaustion requirement.

A statute abrogates an established rule only if the Legislature clearly discloses such an intent. In Section 1278.5, the Legislature did not address the exhaustion requirement. Nowhere did it articulate—let alone "clearly" articulate—an intent to abrogate the requirement. Nor is abrogation necessary to give full effect to the statute's terms or intent. Thus, Section 1278.5 does not abrogate the requirement and the statute and the requirement should be construed together.

In holding that Section 1278.5 abrogated the rule, the Court of Appeal relied on case law addressing whether administrative processes trigger exhaustion requirements. Here, though, it is settled that the quasi-judicial peer review is sufficiently judicial to trigger exhaustion. The Court of Appeal also relied on misperceptions about the practical effect of construing Section 1278.5 consistent with the exhaustion requirement. Section 1278.5 can—and should—be construed consistent with the exhaustion requirement.

The Court of Appeal's legal error led to error in its disposition. Plaintiff Mark T. Fahlen, a nephrologist, enjoyed

staff privileges at Memorial Medical Center in Modesto; but during his tenure, he clashed repeatedly with nurses. After quasi-judicial peer review, the Hospital's board of trustees found that Fahlen's conduct was inappropriate and detrimental to patient care, and decided not to renew his privileges. Without exhausting judicial remedies, Fahlen brought Section 1278.5 claims against Sutter Central Valley Hospitals, which operates the Hospital, and the Hospital's chief operating officer, alleging that the quasi-judicial peer review action amounted to retaliation for Fahlen's complaints about nursing staff.

Defendants filed a special motion to strike under the anti-SLAPP statute, arguing that Fahlen could not demonstrate probable success on his Section 1278.5 claims because he had failed to exhaust judicial remedies. The trial court denied the motion finding that Defendants failed to establish that Fahlen's claims arose from protected speech activity. The Court of Appeal reversed on that issue, but held that, in Section 1278.5, the Legislature abrogated the exhaustion requirement. Fahlen's Section 1278.5 claims, therefore, survived the special motion to strike.

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's judgment on the Section 1278.5 claims because the Legislature did not abrogate the exhaustion requirement and, in light of the requirement, Fahlen cannot demonstrate a probability of success on his Section 1278.5 claims.

ISSUE PRESENTED

A physician who seeks civil remedies on the basis that a quasi-judicial peer review action was maliciously motivated must first pursue mandamus relief. In 2007, the Legislature extended Section 1278.5, a health care whistleblower statute, to cover physicians; it did not clearly disclose an intent to abrogate the exhaustion requirement. As to Section 1278.5 claims based on allegedly retaliatory quasi-judicial peer review, has the exhaustion requirement been abrogated?

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The following discussion is based on the Court of Appeal's factual account. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2).)

A. Fahlen Clashes with Nurses While Holding Staff Privileges at the Hospital; by 2007, Clashes Are More Frequent

Fahlen is a nephrologist who was employed by Gould Medical Group (Gould) in Modesto. (Fahlen v. Sutter Central Valley Hosps. (Aug 14, 2012, F063023) (Slip Op.), at p. 4.)

Starting in 2004, he enjoyed staff privileges at Memorial Medical Center, a hospital operated by defendant Sutter Central Valley Hospitals. (Ibid.) Between 2004 and 2006, Hospital officials received four reports of Fahlen clashing with nurses over care issues. (Ibid.) In the eight-month period starting in August 2007, officials received reports of six more incidents of Fahlen clashing with nurses. As to some of the incidents, Fahlen reported the nurses to nursing supervisors or filed written reports. (Ibid.) Hospital officials became concerned about

Fahlen's behavior, which, as a principal hospital accrediting body has determined, imperils patient care and safety. (See The Joint Commission, Sentinel Event Alert, Issue 40, "Behavior that undermines a culture of safety," July 9, 2008, available at www.jointcommission.org/-assets/1/18/SEA_40.pdf, last visited 2/4/2013 (Sentinel Event Alert #40) [intimidating and disruptive behavior, including verbal outbursts, adversely affects patient care and safety and "must [be] address[ed]"].)

In May 2008, Steve Mitchell, the Hospital's chief operating officer, contacted Gould officials. (Slip Op. at p. 4.) He hoped that they would talk to Fahlen, Fahlen would become disruptive, Gould would fire Fahlen, and he would leave town. (*Ibid.*) Gould did fire Fahlen. (*Ibid.*) The termination resulted in the cancellation of his malpractice insurance and, without insurance, Fahlen could not treat patients at the Hospital. (*Ibid.*) Fahlen scheduled a meeting with Mitchell, apparently to tell him that he planned to open his own practice and continue to treat patients at the Hospital. (*Id.* at p. 5.) A meeting was set for May 30. (See *ibid.*) According to Fahlen, Mitchell advised him that he should leave Modesto or the Hospital would begin an investigation and peer review that would result in an report to the Medical Board. (*Id.* at p. 5.)

B. The Medical Staff Initiates Peer Review and, Based on the Record, the Board of Trustees Declines to Renew Fahlen's Privileges

The medical staff initiated a peer review proceeding by asking Fahlen for information regarding his interactions with

nurses on five occasions beginning in December 2007. (Slip Op. at p. 5.) Fahlen responded. (*Ibid.*) The medical staff appointed an investigative committee that would report to the medical executive committee (MEC), which, under the medical staff bylaws, reviews applications for staff privileges and initiates corrective or disciplinary actions against medical staff. (*Ibid.*) The investigative committee reported its findings. (*Ibid.*) On the strength of that report, the MEC recommended against renewal of Fahlen's privileges. (*Ibid.*) The MEC notified Fahlen of its recommendation and his right to contest it. (*Ibid.*)

Fahlen asked for a hearing. (Slip Op. at p. 5.) The MEC issued a statement of charges describing 17 incidents of disruptive or abusive behavior toward staff and one incident of abusive and contentious behavior during an interview with the investigative committee. (Id. at pp. 5-6.) A judicial review committee (JRC) was formed and an evidentiary hearing was held. (Id. at p. 6.) The JRC concluded that Fahlen's "interaction with the nursing staff at [the Hospital] was inappropriate and not acceptable" "on several occasions." (Ibid.) The JRC, however, disagreed with the MEC's recommended disposition. In its view, Fahlen's behavior "appreciably improved" after counseling and anger management sessions, which he solicited after the MEC issued its recommendation. (*Ibid.*) To the extent the record revealed conduct "detrimental to the delivery of patient care, the nursing staff... was more to blame for such conduct than was [Fahlen]." (*Ibid*.) The medical staff, in the JRC's opinion, should have intervened earlier and the MEC should have considered

other dispositions. (*Ibid.*) The JRC concluded that Fahlen's privileges should be renewed. (*Ibid.*)

Consistent with the bylaws, the board of trustees made the final decision. (Slip Op. at p. 7.) The board asked the JRC for additional information regarding the evidence it relied upon and its findings. (*Ibid.*) The JRC declined to provide more. (*Ibid.*) The board reviewed the record as it was presented and found that Fahlen's conduct "was inappropriate and not acceptable, [and was] directly related to the quality of medical care at the Hospital." (*Ibid*; see Sentinel Event Alert #40 at p. 1 [to assure quality care and safety health care organizations "must address" intimidating and disruptive behavior.) It criticized the JRC's findings and conclusions as "unlinked to any factual support in the hearing record." (Slip Op. at p. 7.) It reversed the JRC's decision, effectively restoring the MEC's recommendation that the Hospital not renew Fahlen's privileges. (Ibid.) Fahlen did not pursue mandamus relief and the Hospital filed an 805 Report with the Medical Board. (*Ibid.*)

C. Fahlen Sues for Civil Remedies Alleging Retaliation by Quasi-Judicial Peer Review

Fahlen filed a complaint for damages and other relief against the Hospital and Mitchell. (Slip Op. at p. 7.) He alleged seven causes of action: (1) whistleblower retaliation under Section 1278.5; (2) a right to declaratory relief that the peer review was conducted in bad faith under Business and Professions Code section 803.1 (Section 803.1); (3) interference with the right to practice an occupation; (4) intentional

interference with his contractual relations with Gould; (5) interference with prospective business advantage; (6) retaliation against him for "advocat[ing] for appropriate care for [his] patients," in violation of Business and Professions Code sections 510 and 2056; and (7) wrongful termination of hospital privileges. (*Id.* at pp. 7-8.)

D. Defendants Pursue a Demurrer and Special Motion to Strike; the Trial Court Denies Both

Well established is the rule that quasi-judicial peer review proceedings are "official proceeding[s] authorized by law" within the meaning of subdivision (e)(2) of Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16 (Section 425.16), the anti-SLAPP statute, such that causes of action arising from quasi-judicial peer review are subject to an anti-SLAPP special motion to strike. (See Kibler v. Northern Inyo County Local Hosp. Distr. (2006) 39 Cal.4th 192, 200 (Kibler).) Also established is the common law rule that before seeking civil remedies for allegedly maliciously-motivated quasi-judicial peer review action, a physician must first exhaust judicial remedies by securing a writ of administrative mandamus. (See Westlake, supra, 17 Cal.3d at p. 484.) Fahlen did not allege that he had pursued mandamus relief. (Slip Op. at p. 7.) Thus, Defendants demurred and filed a special motion to strike arguing that Fahlen's failure to exhaust judicial remedies meant that he could not establish probable success on his claims. (*Id.* at p. 8)

The trial court overruled the demurrer. (Slip Op. at p. 8.)
On the special motion to strike, the trial court found that
Fahlen's claims did not arise from protected speech activity.

(*Ibid.*) Defendants appealed the latter ruling. (*Id.* at p. 9; see Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subd. (i) [order denying special motion to strike immediately appealable].)

E. The Court of Appeal Finds That, by Section 1278.5, the Legislature Abrogated the Exhaustion Requirement

The Court of Appeal affirmed in part and reversed in part. It noted that the fourth cause of action for intentional interference with contractual relations with Gould was not covered by the anti-SLAPP motion. (Slip Op. at p. 8, n.3.) It found, however, that the rest of Fahlen's claims were based on the quasi-judicial peer review proceeding and, therefore, they arose from protected activity under the anti-SLAPP statute. (*Ibid.*)

Defendants, again, argued that Fahlen could not demonstrate probable success on these claims because he failed to exhaust judicial remedies. (Slip Op. at p. 9; see *Westlake*, *supra*, 17 Cal.3d at p. 484.) Fahlen argued that the exhaustion requirement did not apply to his claims, especially his Section 1278.5 claim. (Slip Op. at p. 9.)

The Court of Appeal found that the exhaustion requirement applied to Fahlen's third, fifth, sixth and seventh causes of action. (Slip Op. at pp. 27-28.) Because Fahlen had not demonstrated that he had exhausted judicial remedies, the court directed the trial court to strike these claims. (*Id.* at p. 28-29.) It further held, though, that Section 1278.5 claims came within "[an] exception to exhaustion of judicial remedies" established in

Runyon v. Board of Trustees of California State University (2010) 48 Cal.4th 760 (Runyon) "and similar cases addressing other whistleblower or antiretaliation statutes." (Slip Op. at p. 19.)

First, the court considered State Board of Chiropractic Examiners v. Superior Court (2009) 45 Cal.4th 963 (Arbuckle). There, the court observed, this Court held that when the Legislature enacted the California Whistleblower Protection Act (CWPA), specifically Government Code section 8547.8, subdivision (c) (Section 8547.8), requiring a complainant to file an administrative claim before filing a tort action for damages, it did not intend to impose a judicial exhaustion requirement. (Slip Op. at p. 22; citing Arbuckle, supra, 45 Cal.4th at pp. 974-976.) The *Arbuckle* holding was based on two factors. First, by providing an administrative process but not requiring that the resulting findings be set aside in a mandamus action, the Legislature did not provide a judicial remedy for a whistleblower to exhaust. (*Id.* at p. 22, citing Arbuckle, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 976.) Second, the narrow standard that would govern a mandamus proceeding brought by a whistleblower would frustrate the Legislature's clear intent to provide civil remedies. (Slip Op. at pp. 22-23, citing Arbuckle, supra, 45 Cal.4th at pp. 977-978.)

The Court of Appeal next discussed *Runyon*, which also involved the CWPA, specifically Government Code section 8547.12 governing CSU employees. (Slip Op. at p. 23, citing *Runyon*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 763-764.) While "[t]he primary issue" in *Runyon* was exhaustion of administrative remedies, the Court also addressed judicial exhaustion. (See Slip Op. at p. 23;

citing *Runyon*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 773-774.) For the reasons articulated in *Arbuckle*, the Court found that the Legislature did not intend to require that a CSU employee succeed in a mandamus action before filing a civil action. (Slip Op. at p. 23; citing *Runyon*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 774.)

The Court of Appeal discerned a rule to the effect that where the Legislature authorizes broad civil whistleblower remedies and acknowledges a claim procedure but does not require that findings be set aside in a mandamus action, then civil claims under the statute need not be exhausted. (Slip Op. at pp. 23-24.) This rule, the court held, applied to Section 1278.5 claims because the Legislature provided whistleblower civil remedies and, in subdivision (h), the Legislature acknowledged "the possibility of parallel peer review administrative proceedings" without requiring that findings be set aside. (See id. at p. 24.)

As further support for its holding, the court cited subdivision (d)(1)'s provision that, under certain circumstances, an adverse action taken within 120 days of a complaint about hospital care would be presumed to be retaliatory; an exhaustion requirement would nullify the presumption. (Slip Op. at pp. 26-27.) The court cited subdivision (g)'s reinstatement provision; "there would never be a circumstance in which reinstatement of a doctor's staff privileges would still be required in a civil action" "[i]f a doctor were required to successfully set aside an administrative order terminating his or her privileges as a precondition to a section 1278.5 action." (*Id.* at 27.) And, the

court cited the Legislature's "purpose of protecting the public from unsafe patient care and conditions" and Section 1278.5's damages remedy, both of which, according to the court, would be frustrated if a complaining physician were required to pursue mandamus review. (*Ibid.*)

Having found that Fahlen had overcome the judicial exhaustion defense, the court affirmed the trial court's anti-SLAPP order on the first cause of action under Section 1278.5. (Slip Op. at p. 27.) The court also found that Fahlen had demonstrated the requisite probability of success on his Section 803.1 declaratory relief "claim": Even though Fahlen's "bad faith" allegation did not amount to a separate cause of action, proof of bad faith "in addition to the proof of retaliation under section 1278.5 can result in a different, additional remedy under section 1278.5, subdivision (g), [i.e., a declaration that the peer review was conducted in bad faith]." (Id. at pp. 30-31.) "[T]he exception from the requirement for judicial exhaustion applicable to a section 1278.5 whistleblower cause of action also applies to the additional allegations of bad faith and the request for additional declaratory relief in the second cause of action." (Id. at p. 31.)

F. This Court Agrees to Review the Court of Appeal's Abrogation Holding

Defendants asked this Court to review the issue whether, by amending Section 1278.5 to cover physicians, the Legislature intended to abrogate the judicial exhaustion requirement where a physician alleges that quasi-judicial peer review was retaliatory. (See Pet. for Rev., filed Sept. 24, 2012, at p. 1.) Fahlen opposed review but argued that if review were granted, the Court should also decide whether: (1) his challenges to the actions that led up to the renewal of his privileges arose from protected activity under the anti-SLAPP statute; and, (2) by its amendments to Section 1278.5, the Legislature intended to abrogate the Westlake requirement as to all causes of action based on the same facts as a Section 1278.5 claim. (See Ans. to Pet. for Rev., filed Oct. 15, 2012, passim.) This Court granted the petition and limited review to the issue presented in the petition. (See Order, filed Nov. 14, 2012.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When construing a statute, a court must seek to "ascertain the intent of the drafters so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. [Citation.] Because the statutory language is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent, [courts] first examine the words themselves, giving them their usual and ordinary meaning and construing them in context.' [Citation.]" (Mejia v. Reed (2003) 31 Cal.4th 657, 663.) The statute "should be read in the context of the entire law." (Metropolitan Water Dist. of So. Cal. v. Superior Court (2004) 32 Cal.4th 491, 501 (Metropolitan Water Dist.).)

ARGUMENT

Below, we discuss Section 1278.5 in the context of the law of peer review, the well-established exhaustion requirement, and legislative enactments reinforcing peer review and the exhaustion requirement. Then, we explain why Section 1278.5

should be construed consistent with the exhaustion requirement and why Fahlen's first and second causes should have been stricken due to his failure to exhaust judicial remedies.

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