## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MARK FAHLEN, M.D.,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

SUTTER CENTRAL VALLEY HOSPITALS, STEVE MITCHELL, et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

CRC
8.25(b) APR 0 8 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### ANŞWERING BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT

After Published Decision by the Court of Appeal
Fifth Appellate District
Case No. F063023
Stanislaus County Superior Court Case No. 662696
Hon. Timothy Salter, presiding

STEPHEN D. SCHEAR

Attorney at Law

(Cal. Bar No. 84806)

Law Offices of Stephen D. Schear

2831 Telegraph Avenue

Oakland, CA 94609

Phone: (510) 832-3500

Fax: (510) 272-0711

Email: steveschear@gmail.com

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

Requiring a physician to win a writ of mandate following a peer review hearing would effectively make it impossible for a physician to prove that a healthcare facility's reasons for terminating his privileges were pretextual. Since retaliation is not an issue for decision in a peer review hearing and there is no discovery by deposition, there is no opportunity for the physician to use the discovery tools of civil litigation to probe the validity of the purported reasons for a termination. A judge evaluating Dr. Fahlen's writ would be limited to evaluating whether there was any substantial evidence in the record to support the Sutter Board's conclusion. (*Ellison v. Sequoia Health Services* (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1486, 1495-1497.)

Furthermore, even if a healthcare facility's charges are true, in the sense that they accurately represent past events, that does not prove that termination of a doctor's privileges is not discriminatory. A whistleblowing physician may be terminated when other physicians with similar or worse problems were not disciplined at all. Here, Dr. Thong Nguyen, a member of the Ad Hoc Investigating Committee, testified that other hospital physicians with behavioral issues were referred to counseling rather than having their privileges terminated. (Fahlen RJN, Exh. A, pp. 1222-1223.) In a retaliation case brought under Section 1278.5, Dr. Fahlen would have the opportunity to discover and prove he was treated more harshly than other

physicians with similar behavior issues. In a writ of mandate proceeding, he would have no such opportunity, since there would be no discovery and discriminatory treatment would not be an issue presented to the court.

If Sutter's argument is accepted, a healthcare facility could always defeat a claim of retaliation by simply presenting a prima facie case of a legitimate reason for its termination of privileges. No independent factfinder would ever evaluate a physician's retaliation case and the physician would never have an opportunity to prove the healthcare facility's reasons were pretextual. This scheme would obviously defeat the Legislature's express intention to give physicians a civil action for retaliation for "an unfavorable change in privileges." It would also defeat Section 1278.5's public policy of protecting the public health and safety.

As discussed above, this Court has twice recognized that requiring a writ of mandate proceeding before the filing of a retaliation action would mean that the agency accused of retaliation would win nearly every case, contrary to the purpose of the statute. (Runyon, supra, 48 Cal.4th at p. 774, citing Arbuckle, supra, 45 Cal.4th at p. 977.) That analysis compels an affirmation of the Court of Appeal's decision.

#### C. Westlake Does Not Support Sutter's Argument.

Sutter relies primarily on Westlake, supra, as legal authority for its argument that Dr. Fahlen must win a writ of mandate before pursuing this action. In fact, Sutter's entire argument essentially rests on two sentences from Westlake:

Although a quasi-judicial decision reached by a tribunal of a private association may not be entitled to exactly the same measure of respect as a similar decision of a duly constituted public agency [citation omitted], we believe that so long as such a quasi-judicial decision is not set aside through appropriate review procedures the decision has the effect of establishing the propriety of the hospital's action.

Accordingly, we conclude that plaintiff must first succeed in

overturning the quasi-judicial action before pursuing her tort claim against defendants.

(Westlake, 17 Cal.3d at p. 484, cited in AOB at pp. 18-19.)

In *Arbuckle*, this Court acknowledged the general rule of *Westlake*, but found it did not apply when, as here, the Legislature expressly acknowledged the existence of a parallel administrative remedy but did not require an adverse decision to be set aside by a writ of mandate. (*Arbuckle*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at pp. 975-976.) Sutter's argument based on *Westlake* therefore fails under more recent precedent of this Court.

Sutter correctly describes Westlake's objectives in requiring a writ of mandate. (See Westlake, 17 Cal.3d at p. 484; AOB at p. 19.) However, none of those objectives apply in a Section 1278.5 action. The first objective of according "proper respect" to a hospital's peer review decision by requiring a writ of mandate does not apply when the Legislature has recognized that peer review decisions can be used illegitimately for retaliatory purposes, as described above. The second objective of simplifying court procedures by requiring that a court rather than a jury evaluate a hospital's decision is inconsistent with the Legislature's decision to give physicians a right to a direct civil action, including independent factfinding by a jury, when they claim retaliation. The third objective, protecting those responsible for "policing medical personnel", is clearly contrary to the Legislature's intent in enacting Section 1278.5. Section 1278.5 was not intended to protect healthcare facilities, but to regulate them in order to protect the public health and safety. Applying Westlake to protect healthcare facilities from accountability for retaliatory actions would be diametrically opposed to the purpose of the statute to protect whistleblowers and the public health.

A rationale of *Westlake* for requiring exhaustion of administrative proceedings, deference to the "expertise" of the physicians on a peer review

hearing panel, also does not apply here. (*Westlake*, *supra*, 17 Cal.3d at p. 476.) In this case, Sutter's governing body disregarded the unanimous recommendation of the physicians on the JRC. A hospital's governing body had no special expertise in whether it is committing retaliation and the courts should not give deference to such decisions.

Westlake was silent on the standard of judicial review to be applied in a writ of mandate proceeding following a hospital's peer review. At the time the Court decided Westlake, independent judicial review was required whenever an administrative agency had the power to take a fundamental right. (Strumsky v. San Diego County Employees Retirement Assn. (1974) 11 Cal.3d 28, 31; Bixby v. Pierno (1971) 4 Cal.3d 130.) One year after Westlake, this Court determined that there should also be an independent judicial review of the evidence supporting a termination of hospital privileges, because a physician's privileges are a fundamental right and a fundamental vested property interest. (Anton v. San Antonio Community Hospital (1977) 19 Cal. 3d 802, 823-825.) Shortly after Anton, the CHA persuaded the Legislature to amend Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5 to add a new subdivision (d), mandating only a substantial evidence review of hospital peer review. The Legislature did so despite the opinion of the Legislative Counsel of California that the amendment was unconstitutional. (Fahlen RJN, Exh. C, legislative history of S.B. 1472, Opinion of Legislative Counsel, Sept. 3, 1978.) The Westlake Court had no reason to anticipate that a substantial evidence standard would be subsequently enacted by statute and applied in writ of mandate proceedings. This is another reason why Westlake is not controlling authority on the question presented here.

Sutter claims that the Court of Appeal below concluded that by enacting Section 1278.5, "the Legislature abolished the decades-old

exhaustion requirement applicable to physician peer review." However, Section 1278.5 creates an exception to *Westlake* that would not apply unless the physician had grounds to bring a retaliation case, so most peer review proceedings will remain subject to *Westlake*.

Sutter also relies on *Campbell v. Regents of Univ. of California* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 311, 321, for the proposition that exhaustion is required unless the Legislature indicates expressly or by necessary implication that exhaustion is not required. (AOB at pp. 40-41.) As discussed above, both the language of Section 1278.5 and its legislative history establish that the Legislature did not intend to require exhaustion of the administrative or judicial remedies provided by the peer review statutes.

Although Sutter's argument references Nesson v. Northern Inyo County Local Hospital District (2012) 204 Cal.App.4th 65, it concedes that Nesson "did not discuss at length why it was construing Section 1278.5 in accord with the Westlake requirement." (AOB at p. 28.) Indeed, Nesson did not analyze or even mention the purpose, language or legislative history of 1278.5. Nor did it consider Arbuckle or Runyon. "[T]he Nesson opinion did not separately consider or analyze the requirement for exhaustion of judicial remedies with respect to Nesson's section 1278.5 cause of action." (Fahlen, supra, 208 Cal.App.4th at p. 574, fn. 6.) Dr. Nesson never argued that Section 1278.5 gave him a right to an immediate civil action for damages. The defendant hospital's brief did not even mention Section 1278.5. In Dr. Nesson's reply brief, it only argued that the Hospital had failed to challenge the 1278.5 claim and therefore had waived any challenge to that claim.

There was no discussion in any of the briefs about the issue presented here. "Under these circumstances, it is not surprising that the appellate court did not delve deeply into section 1278.5." (Fahlen, supra, 208 Cal.App.4th

at p. 574, fn. 6.) *Nesson* has no value as precedent on the question presented here.

D. When, as Here, There Are Multiple Acts of Retaliation, Sutter's Argument Would Eliminate a Physician's Cause of Action for Pre-Termination Retaliatory Actions, Contrary to the Purpose of the Statute.

As many cases demonstrate, it is commonplace for retaliation to take place not as a single act, but as a series of actions. (See, e.g., *Arbuckle*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 969; *Yanowitz v. L'Oreal USA*, *Inc.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1028, 1039-1040.)

Sutter's brief does not discuss the legal implications of the fact that Dr. Fahlen suffered from acts of retaliation other than the termination of his privileges, as alleged in his Complaint and proven by evidence submitted in opposition to Sutter's anti-SLAPP motion. (1 CT 18-19 at ¶ 28-29, 1 CT 31-34, 2 CT 294-96 at ¶ 34-38; 3 CT 403-04 at ¶ 6-9.) Sutter's pretermination actions of getting Dr. Fahlen fired and then threatening him meet the description of "discriminatory treatment" contained in Section 1278.5, subdivision (d)(2). Given the proximity in time of those actions to some of Dr. Fahlen's complaints about substandard nursing care, both actions are presumed to be retaliatory under subdivision (d)(1). (2 CT 287-95at ¶ 7-31, ¶ 34-38.)

Dr. Fahlen has established a prima facie case of retaliation based on actions clearly not subject to a writ of mandate requirement, since they were both before and outside the peer review proceedings. Since the pretermination retaliatory acts in this case remain viable, the decisions of the trial court and the Court of Appeal to deny Sutter's anti-SLAPP motion on his Section 1278.5 count must be affirmed for that reason standing alone.

Sutter's argument assumes that Dr. Fahlen's right to sue for those pre-termination actions dies on the vine unless he wins a writ of mandate on

the termination of his privileges. That position contradicts the plain language of Section 1278.5 which gives Dr. Fahlen a right to sue because of such actions. In addition, a writ of mandate would not consider the propriety of any of Sutter's pre-termination actions, which are not addressed in the decision of the Sutter Board. (1 CT 71-78.) As a consequence, pre-termination retaliatory actions would never be evaluated by any court in any proceeding. Sutter's argument, if adopted, would thus provide a perverse incentive for a healthcare facility to pursue a wrongful termination of a whistleblower's privileges: by doing so, it could eliminate the physician's ability to sue for pre-termination acts of retaliation.

Here, if Sutter's argument were accepted, the parties and the courts would be faced with a situation in which Dr. Fahlen must simultaneously pursue two judicial remedies based on overlapping facts arising out of the same events. This would obviously be contrary to judicial economy, which would be best served by having all of Dr. Fahlen's retaliation claims heard in the same forum at the same time. It would also create an anomalous situation in which a physician could immediately sue for a threat to take a peer review action, but could not sue for an actual termination of privileges without winning a writ of mandate. Judicial economy and the rational evaluation and disposition of Section 1278.5 cases would be ill-served by this procedural scheme.

## E. Permitting Direct Civil Actions Will Not Inspire Non-Meritorious Litigation.

Sutter may argue in its reply brief that affirming the Court of Appeal would open a floodgate of spurious retaliation claims. There is no evidence to support such an argument and considerable evidence to the contrary. To start with, there are very few peer review hearings held each year in California. (Fahlen RJN, Exh. D, "Comprehensive Study of Peer Review in California," July 31, 2008, by Lumetra, under contract with the Medical

Board of California at p. 90.) Second, since the Legislature enacted Section 1278.5 in 2007, there have been few cases in either state or federal courts in which Section 1278.5 was an issue, indicating that physicians are not using the remedy often. Third, there is no reason to expect physicians to file spurious claims of retaliation. Retaliation is difficult to prove because it almost always must depend on circumstantial evidence, since it is based on subjective motives only the person who is retaliating can directly know. (Mamou v. Trendwest Resorts, Inc., supra, 165 Cal.App.4th at p. 713.) A physician without a history of whistleblowing is highly unlikely to pretend to be a whistleblower just to be able to sue a healthcare facility. Even physicians with valid retaliation claims will often be unable to sue a healthcare facility because of the difficulties inherent in litigating such claims. (Fahlen RJN, Exh. D, Lumetra study, p. 90.) Healthcare facilities have virtually unlimited resources to litigate and they have a variety of procedural protections.

As this Court recognized in *Runyon*, permitting a direct civil action only gives the plaintiff "the opportunity of *proving*, in court, all of the elements of a cause of action . . ." (*Runyon*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 769, emphasis in original.) In addition to the usual guarantees of a fair trial applicable to all litigants, healthcare facilities can also file anti-SLAPP motions pursuant to *Kibler v. Northern Inyo County Local Hosp. Distr.* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 192, as Sutter did here. The risk of having to pay their opponent's attorneys fees is a powerful deterrent to retaliation claims by physicians.

# F. Sutter's Argument Would Create an Exception to Section 1278.5 That Is Contrary to the Purpose and Public Policy Underlying the Law.

Section 1278.5 is a regulatory statute, set in a regulatory act, intended to prevent a specific type of misconduct by healthcare facilities – retaliation for reports concerning the care, services or conditions they are providing. Viewed in its entirety, the Legislature obviously wanted Section 1278.5 to be a strong prohibition on retaliation with effective remedies for whistleblowers.

Given the purpose and terms of the statute, it is inconceivable that the Legislature intended to give health facilities a nearly foolproof ability to escape liability for retaliation by using peer review proceedings. However, for the reasons described above, that would be the outcome if this Court accepts Sutter's argument.

Sutter in effect argues that the public policy favoring peer review trumps the language and intention of the statute. However, the courts will not find an implicit exception to the plain language of a statute based on public policy arguments. (*Pacific Lumber, supra,* 37 Cal. 4th at pp. 926-927.) This Court is "not free to substitute a contrary judgment for the Legislature's considered conclusions." (*Id.* at p. 943.)

Furthermore, there is no conflict in the fundamental public policy underlying Section 1278.5 and California's peer review statutes. Both are intended to protect the public health and safety. Business and Professions Code section 809, subdivision (a)(4) states, "Peer review that is not conducted fairly results in harm to both patients and healing arts practitioners by limiting access to care." Retaliatory peer review is not consistent with either the public policy favoring public health and safety nor the public policy favoring fair peer review. In fact, shielding peer review from accountability under Section 1278.5 would actually provide an

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